#### IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

No. 2010-CA-01584

# CONGRESS STREET PROPERTIES, LLC AND 930 BLUES CAFÉ, LLC

**APPELLANTS** 

V.

BMR FUNDING, LLC

**APPELLEE** 

On appeal from the Chancery Court of Hinds County, Mississippi

**BRIEF OF APPELLANTS** 

Suzanne Keys Byrd & Associates, PLLC Post Office Box 19 Jackson, MS 39205 (601) 354-1210 Attorney for Plaintiff

#### **Certificate of Interested Persons**

#### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES**

- I. Whether the Trial Court erred in finding the Congress Street Properties, LLC Deed enforceable and confirming the foreclosure by BMR.
- II. Whether the Trial Court erred in finding that the 930 Blues Café LLC Deed of Trust had not been satisfied and confirming the foreclosure by BMR.

#### PROCEDURAL AND FACTUAL BACKGROUND

#### I. Procedural Background

On December 10, 2009, in Cause No. G2009-1966, Plaintiff BMR Funding, LLC ("BMR") filed a Verified Complaint against the 930 Blues Café LLC for Temporary Restraining Order and Injunction, seeking possession of property it had foreclosed upon, located at 930 N. Congress Street and an order to the 930 Blues Café LLC to vacate the property. (R.000066) It further requested a permanent injunction ordering the same relief. On the same day, BMR filed a similar pleading against Congress Street Properties ("CSP"), Cause No. G2009-1965, seeking similar relief with respect to property it had foreclosed upon located at 939 N. President Street. CSP and the 930 Blues Club filed their answers and affirmative defenses (R.000024; R. 000089) The Court consolidated these causes by Order, dated January 29, 2010. @. 000063)

On February 8, 2010, BMR noticed the Complaints for Temporary Restraining Orders for hearing, setting same for February 19, 2010. (R.000148)

Prior to the hearing date, CSP and the 930 Blues Café and others filed an action against BMR Funding and others(Congress Street Properties, et al v. SouthTrust Bank, et al, G2010-0132) raising legal claims on events that led up to the foreclosures by which BMR claims titled to these properties. CSP, et al filed a

Motion to Consolidate that case with these consolidated cases (R.000266); however, before that could be heard, the Defendants to that other action (including BMR Funding, LLC) removed the case to federal court.

Because that companion case involved parties who could potentially be prejudiced by any premature ruling by the Trial Court in this case, on the issues of the validity of the deeds of trust that led to the foreclosures, the Trial Court stayed action in this consolidated case for ninety days. (R.000518). The Court was anticipating a resolution to the remand motion Plaintiffs had filed in the other case and if remanded, the Trial Court would then be able to proceed with all parties with an interest in these properties before it. Unfortunately, the removed case was not remanded until after the hearing in this case, just days before the Trial Court in this case entered its judgment.

During the ninety day stay, the Trial Court appointed a Special Master on March 30, 2010, Mr. Guthrie T. Abbott. (R.000521) The Court ordered the parties to submit their proof to him and required a report from him on June 1, 2010. On May 15, 2010, Mr. Abbott reported to the Court that he felt a hearing on the validity and enforceability of the deeds of trust to the two properties was needed so that the Court could make the factual findings necessary to any legal opinion. On June 15, 2010, the Court forwarded this report to the parties and instructed them to

set the matter for hearing. (Ex. 72 to August 22, 2010 hearing)

Prior to the hearing, the parties submitted a Pre-Trial Order (R.000672) and additional documents and affidavits were entered into evidence on August 11, 2010. The Court heard argument from both sides. (Tr. 1 et seq.)

On or about September 2, 2010, the Trial Court made its ruling, finding for BMR. (R.709, RE 9). CSP and the 930 Blues Café filed a Motion to Reconsider and Amend Judgment on September 8, 2010 (R.000719, R E16) which BMR opposed (R.000731) The Trial Court denied the Motion to Reconsider on September 28, 2010 (R.000751, RE 25). From those rulings, Congress Street Properties, LLC and 930 Blues Café, LLC appealed on September 28, 2010 (R.000758, RE 27).

II. Facts

#### Part I.- 933 N. President Street Property

933 N. President Street Property and Deed of Trust

Congress Street Properties, LLC ("CSP") is a limited liability company, formed in May, 2001 whose principal member was Isaac K. Byrd, Jr. (RE 89). In early March of 2002, CSP, as the purchaser, entered into an agreement with Protective Life Insurance Co. ("PLI") as seller, to purchase certain lands PLI owned located on North President Street in Jackson, Mississippi. (RE 29, Exhibit

- D-1)). The property consisted of two separate, though adjacent parcels<sup>1</sup>:
- a. The first was "939 N. President St.", which included an office building, three subdivisional lots, and a ten foot strip off of the north end of a fourth lot. (See Deed to PLI from James Lancaster, RE 33, Exhibit D-2)
- b. The second was "933 N. President St.", which consisted of a vacant lot that lies South of part one. (See Deed to PLI from Lee Agnew, RE 35, Exhibit D-3)

  In consideration for this purchase, CSP paid unto PLI \$10,000 cash, with the remaining balance of \$618,000 due within a specified time.

A plat for the land involved, attached to Jennifer Wilson's Affidavit (RE. . Exhibit 26), indicates the deed books and page numbers that describe the various parcels. The deed to PLI of the 939 N. President parcel (RE. 33, Exhibit 37, D-2) reflects the legal description as:

Lots 1,2 and 4 of Florence Green Partition, located in ten(10) acre Lot N. 8, North Jackson, ...

And Also:

Ten (10) feet of North End of Lot 2 Hamilton Subdivision...

The legal description of the second parcel specifically identified as "933 N. President" conveyed to PLI is:

Lot 1, Hamilton Subdivision of the S ½ of NE 1/4 of 10 acre, Lot No. 8, North Jackson ...

Being property situated at and numbered 933 on North President Street,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>It is important to note that there was no proof that at any time separate and individual municipal addresses been merged into one description, and under one municipal address.

The legal description of 933 N. President Street includes the legal address (vacant lot or not) and the attachment to the Contract for Purchase notes that the vacant lot is a separate parcel of property. (RE 29, D-1) In an affidavit entered by BMR from Quin Breland, an attorney, (RE. 41, Exhibit 1, sub-exhibit 2 to vol. 1 of Exhibits) Mr. Breland refers to 933 and 939 N. President being separate parcels with separate parcel numbers placed by the tax assessor. There was no proof that at any time the two separate and individual properties at these municipal addresses were ever merged into one description, or under one municipal address.

#### The purchase, financing, closing

While CSP was purchasing these two parcels from Protective Life Insurance Company, CSP arranged financing with SouthTrust Bank ("STB"), now known as Wachovia. An agent for STB prepared the following instruments: promissory note (RE 50, Exhibit 39, D-4), deed of trust (RE 54, Exhibit 40, D-5) and the assignment of rents to the two story office building (RE 60, Exhibit 41, D-6), that Mr. Byrd on behalf of CSP was to execute. On page two of the Promissory Note the collateral noted is:

Borrower acknowledges this Note is secured by First Deed of Trust dated April 29, 2002 on 939 President Street, Jackson, Hinds County,

#### Mississippi (emphasis added)

No legal description was given, nor was there attached to the promissory note any Exhibit that would include a legal description. After referencing an Exhibit A which was not attached, the Deed of Trust states that the property is **The Real**Property or its address is commonly known as 939 north President Street,

Jackson, MS 39201. Each one of the documents as prepared by STB acknowledged the security as being the real property at the address is commonly known as "939 N. President St. Jackson, Ms. 39201". This statement clearly shows that the parcel to be taken as security was the "939 N. President". The indexing instructions to the Clerk at the top of the Deed of Trust also states "939 N. President Street, Jackson, Hinds County, Mississippi."

Paul Henderson, ("Henderson") at the law firm of Young, Williams, Henderson & Fuselier, P.A., now known as Young- Williams, PA., ("YWHF" or "YW") was the closing attorney for the sale and that Jenny Wilson, a paralegal in Henderson's office, submitted a request for a title abstract on the property to First American Abstract Company (RE 65, Exhibit 42, D-7). On March 15, 2002, First American completed the title abstract work and submitted two separate typed title reports to Henderson. The first report (RE 66, Exhibit 43, D-8), file number 15972-H(A), was on the 939 N. President St. parcel. The report also identified the

tax identification parcel numbers that for this municipal address as being: 39-55; 39-57; 39-58.<sup>2</sup> The second title report submitted by First American, was for file number 15971-H(B), which is on the 933 N. President St. parcel (Lot 1 Hamilton Subdivision...) (RE 73, Exhibit 44, D-9). The report also identified the tax identification parcel number for this municipal address, which is Parcel No. 39-51. Thus, First American clearly distinguished the two properties as separate from each other and put Paul Henderson on notice of same.

On April 10, 2002, Paul Henderson sent two certificates of title to Ms. Shauna Yeldell at SouthTrust Bank. One was on the 939 N. President property (RE 79, Exhibit 45, D-10) and one was on the 933 N. President property (RE 82 Exhibit 46, D-11). Thus, SouthTrust Bank knew that these were two separate parcels, and in the absence of any proof to the contrary, it must be concluded that SouthTrust chose the property it wanted to take as collateral.

The Closing Statement (RE 84, Exhibit 30) reflects the contract between PLI and CSP and what PLI would convey and what CSP would pay. These documents - the Closing Statement, Contract for purchase, and Special Warranty

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>39-55 is the parcel no. for Lots 1 & 2, Florence Green Partition; 39-57 is the parcel no. for Lot 4, Florence Green Partition; and 39-58 is the parcel no. for the ten (10') strip off of the N. end of Lot 2, Hamilton Sub. These three parcel numbers collectively comprise the real property identified by the municipal address as 939 N. President St. This property was acquired by PLI on 05/04/1990 by virtue of a deed in lieu of foreclosure of a deed of trust in the amount of \$900,000.00.

Deed have no bearing on the intent of the parties to the financing instruments, mainly, the Deed of Trust, which was a separate contract between CSP and SouthTrust Bank, and to what properties they intended to be encumbered. There is absolutely no proof in the record that "Banks always take a lien on the property you purchase with their money" as argued by BMR. To the contrary, SouthTrust Bank could freely choose what property it wanted as collateral and could have listed both if it wanted. But it did not.

The only uncontroverted proof in the record as to the intent of CSP is Mr. Byrd's statement that he did not intend to put the vacant lot up as collateral for the loan .(RE 89, Exhibit 14, vol. 1 of 2). His testimony is supported by the fact that he did not have to, since the two story office building property, worth in excess of \$1 million, was sufficient to collateralize the \$618,000 loan. (See Exhibit 71, D-34- while this appraisal was done two years later, it was of the same office building that was still being rented out). Moreover, it is clear that by virtue of the Certificates of Title sent to it by Attorney Henderson, and the draft closing statement, SouthTrust Bank knew that the sales transaction included two separate parcels of property - one located at 939 N. President and one located at 933 N. President. Knowing this, SouthTrust Bank proceeded to prepare the Deed of Trust and promissory note, and clearly wrote that the collateral taken was property

located at 939 N. President Street. This shows that the intent of the parties was only to secure the loan with the 939 N. President Street parcel.

On April 29, 2002 Mr. Byrd, on behalf of CSP, signed and delivered the promissory note, deed of trust and the assignment of rents. Again, the promissory note and the security instruments were **prepared by the Bank**, and not the closing attorney and/or his firm, whose main and profound charge, was to conduct the closing in a professional manner, and in strict accordance with the documents.

Because PLI was selling both the 933 and the 939 properties simultaneously, the Special Warranty Deed (RE 99, Exhibit 47, D-12) includes the legal descriptions of both. However, because the only property securing any loan was the property located at 939 N. President, the promissory note and the deed of trust identify only it as the property encumbered, and identify it only by street address: "property located at 939 N. President St.". Because there was no Exhibit A attached and because the Deed of Trust clearly covered that property located at 939 N. President, it is clear that the 949 N. President parcel alone was to collateralize the loan.

## Recording of 933 N. President Deed of Trust

On May 9, 2002 the special warranty deed, the deed of trust and the assignment of rents were recorded in the land deed records in the Office of the

Chancery Clerk of Hinds County, Ms. The warranty deed (RE 99,Exhibit 47, D - 12) was recorded in Bk. 5565, Pg. 730; the deed of trust (RE. 54, Exhibit 30, D-5) in Bk. 5569, Pg. 113; and the assignment of rents in Bk. 5565, Pg. 767 (RE . 60 Exhibit 41,D. 6). The originals of these instruments would have been sent back to the closing attorney and then to the creditor for holding until the debt was paid, in this case, SouthTrust Bank.

On June 7, 2002 First American conducted a post closing update on the titles, which is performed before the issuance of the final title insurance policy. Again First American issued two Title Report Up-Dates, one on file no. 15972-H(A), 939 N. President St., (RE. 102, Exhibit 48, D-13) and one for file no. 15972-H(B), 933 N. President St. (RE. 107, Exhibit 49, D-14). Both show the vesting deed as having been recorded at Bk. 5565, Pg. 730 and being filed on May 9, 2002. In the update report at paragraph one (1.), the last sentence in reference to the property description states: "Contains subject land and other land" (emphasis added), another indication that more than one parcel was involved.

Unauthorized Re-filing of 933 N. President Deed of Trust and Assignment of Rents

As noted earlier, the Deed of Trust and Assignment of Rents executed by CSP on April 29, 2002 contained no legal description to the 939 N. President

property. However, after the originals were sent back to Paul Henderson's office, someone attached the legal description from the special warranty deed and caused the originals to be re-recorded on June 19, 2002 in the land deed records in the Office of the Hinds County Chancery Clerk. Although the instruments contained the originals signed by Mr. Byrd on behalf of CSP on April 29, 2002, they were now also in essence new instruments. They now had attached an Exhibit A, which did not exist at the time of the original signing, and that Exhibit A included the 933 N. President property-which was not to be encumbered. This was a material change to the instrument and required an acknowledgment by the grantor, who did not give one. The deed of trust was re-recorded in Bk. 5590, Pg. 145, (RE. 112, Exhibit 50, D-15) and the assignment of rents was re-recorded in Bk. 5587, Pg. 720 (RE 119, Exhibit 51, D-16). At the time of the re-recording, CSP was unaware of the change and had not acknowledged or ratified the addition of Exhibit A. Neither Mr. Byrd, nor any other authority on behalf of and for CSP, gave a reacknowledgment to the modified instrument; his initials are not placed on the legal description showing he validated it; and there was no acknowledgment or statement on the face of the instruments, or by a separate filing, that showed the cause for re-filing. On July 8, 2002, Mr. Byrd received a letter the a copy of the refilled deed of Trust (RE 124, Exhibit 7). However, that letter merely tells Mr.

Byrd of the refiling; it does not explain the changes made nor or ask him to sign a Corrected Deed of Trust.

Northgate Properties Purchase and Deed of Trust

The 939 N. President Deed of Trust was never modified or re-executed by CSP. While the property was listed as collateral on a loan for another entity, Northgate Properties<sup>3,</sup> 939 N. President deed of trust was never modified and re-executed to secure the NGP note. Thus, the CSP deed of trust never actually secured the NGP note, and could not be foreclosed upon to collect if NGP failed to pay.

SouthTrust Bank merger, subsequent actions, and assignments

On January 3, 2005 SouthTrust Bank merged with and became Wachovia. All SouthTrust instruments and accounts became the property of Wachovia. Thus, the 939 N. President Deed of trust passed to Wachovia. On February 7, 2005, Wachovia substituted R. David Marchetti as trustee in the CSP deed of trust and instructed him to foreclose on the property (Exhibit 55, D-20). The substitution recites in the opening paragraph that the deed of trust is found in Bk. 5590, Pg. 145. Again, this is the book and page information for the improperly re-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> On April 25, 2001 Isaac Byrd formed Northgate Properties LLC ("NGP") and purchased the former Primos on North State Street, with a loan obtained from AmSouth Bank. After later purchasing the "939 N. President" property and financing that with SouthTrust Bank, Mr. Byrd and CSP decided to refinance the Amsouth loan on Northgate with SouthTrust Bank.

filed original. The first filing is not even mentioned.

The foreclosure was halted when STB had Mr. Byrd execute a Forbearance Agreement on March 15, 2005 (Exhibit 56, D-21). The Forbearance Agreement does not include the reaffirmation of the 939 N. President Deed of Trust or any modification or correction to said Deed of Trust.

In November of 2005, Wachovia, through Marchetti again began foreclosure, but halted it once more. Instead it filed suit in the U.S. District Court on the promissory notes and the other documents Mr. Byrd signed. On December 22, 2005, Wachovia assigned the CSP and the NGP note and security instruments to SPCP Group, LLC. (Exhibit 59, D-24) In the assignment, the CSP deed of trust was acknowledged as being dated April 29, 2002 and filed at Bk. 5590, Pg. 145. Again, this is incorrect. April 29, 2002 is the correct date the CSP instruments were executed, but Bk. 5590, Pg. 145 is the book and page information for the refiled original, which was re-filed later. The original filing information is absent.

After service of the federal lawsuit, CSP, NGP and Mr. Byrd executed another Forbearance and Modification Agreement (Exhibit 57, D-22) on February 21, 2006, that required half of the indebtedness owed (\$915,247.00) be paid by March 1, 2006.

On May 16, 2006 SPCP obtained a judgment in the U.S. District Court

against Mr. Byrd, CSP and NGP (R.000478, RE 127, Exhibit 58, D-23). This judgment is merely a monetary judgment and includes no declaratory relief, nor any adjudication of the validity of these deeds of trust.

On March 27, 2007 a second assignment for the CSP instruments from Wachovia to SPCP was filed in the land deed records in the Office of the Chancery Clerk for Hinds County at Bk. 6666, Pg. 486 (Exhibit 59, D-24).

On April 17, 2007 SPCP substituted R. David Marchetti in the place and stead of William C. Smith, III in the CSP deed of trust (Exhibit 61, D-26). On December 15, 2008 SPCP substituted Jeremy L. Retherford for Marchetti in the CSP deed of trust (Exhibit 61, D-26). On March 15, 2009 SPCP assigned the CSP deed of trust to BMR.

#### Foreclosure on 939 N. President Property

Jeremy Retherford proceeded to foreclose on the 939 N. President property. He placed in the paper the Substitute Trustee's Notice of sale (Exhibit 67, D. 32) and on June 9, 2009 executed a substitute trustee's deed for the 939 N. President property and the 933 N. President property (RE. 151 Exhibit 15, vol 1 of 2). Though he claims to have conducted the sale in Jackson, Mississippi, the trustee's deed is acknowledged by a notary in Birmingham. (R.00362, RE 151)

#### Part II

#### 930 Blues Café LLC June 25, 2008 Deed of Trust

As mentioned above, Northgate Properties LLC ("NGP") owned property on North State Street in Jackson, Mississippi. The deed of trust on it had been refinanced by SouthTrust Bank, which merged with Wachovia. Wachovia assigned the loan obligation and deed of trust to SPCP.

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