IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

CONGRESS STREET PROPERTIES LLC AND
930 BLUES CAFÉ, LLC

APPELLANTS

VERSUS

NO. 2010-CA-01584

BMR FUNDING, LLC

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLEE BMR FUNDING, LLC

William L. Smith [REDACTED]
Donald Alan Windham, Jr. ([REDACTED])
Tara P. Ellis (101034)
Balch & Bingham LLP
401 E. Capitol Street
Suite 200
Jackson, MS 39201
(601) 961-9900
Facsimile: (601) 961-4466

ATTORNEYS FOR BMR FUNDING, LLC

ON APPEAL FROM HINDS COUNTY CHANCERY COURT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

CONGRESS STREET PROPERTIES LLC AND
930 BLUES CAFÉ, LLC

APPELLANTS

VERSUS

NO. 2010-CA-01584

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Throughout their Brief, Appellants ignore the applicable standard of review for the Chancellor’s decision. The Chancellor’s findings must be upheld if there is substantial evidence to support his findings. *See, e.g., City of Picayune v. S. Reg’l Corp.*, 916 So. 2d 510, 518-19 (Miss. 2005). In this case, the Chancellor’s decision was clearly supported by ample record evidence.

The CSP Deed of Trust, which Appellants claim was materially altered, was, as the Chancellor found, simply re-recorded to correct a mistake. Correcting a mistake or omission, in the absence of fraud, does not render a deed void. *Mullins v. Merchandise Sales Co.*, 192 So. 2d 700 (Miss. 1966). Further, in this case, the alleged charge was not made by a party to the instrument, as is required for a deed to be void by alteration, but by the closing attorney. *See Francis v. Hughes*, 64 So. 2d 351, 352 (Miss. 1953). In making his determination that the CSP Deed of Trust as re-recorded included the property intended to be used as collateral, the Chancellor relied upon the evidence presented by the parties, including: the language of the CSP Deed of Trust itself, which specifically provided that the property was described on Exhibit “A”; the other transactional documents that described the property exactly as Exhibit “A” did; and Byrd’s receipt of numerous documents containing the legal description of both parcels of property. Finally, the Chancellor found that Byrd’s testimony lacked credibility.

With respect to the 930 Blues Café Deed of Trust, the Chancellor found that the parol evidence presented by Appellants was inadmissible, as the plain language of the 930 Blues Café Deed of Trust indicated that it was to secure the entire indebtedness owed by the Byrd Group. This finding is clearly not erroneous, as it is well-established contract law that the best evidence of the parties' intent is the language of the document itself. *Farragut v. Massey*, 612 So. 2d 325, 329 (Miss. 1992). Further, the Chancellor found that, even if the 930 Blues Café Deed of Trust was ambiguous, Byrd's actions in making additional payments toward the release of the 930 Blues Café Deed of Trust indicated his intent for it to secure more than the \$200,000 he now claims it secured.

Accordingly, under the applicable standard of review, the decision of the Chancellor should be upheld.

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The applicable standard of review for a decision by a chancellor is the manifest error/substantial evidence rule. *S. Reg'l Corp.*, 916 So. 2d at 518 (Miss. 2005) (citing *Brown v. Miss. Dep't of Human Servs.*, 806 So. 2d 1004, 1005 (Miss. 2000)). "Where there is substantial evidence to support the chancellor's findings, [the appellate court] is without the authority to disturb the chancellor's conclusions ..." *Id.* at 518–19 (citing *In re Guardianship of Savell*, 876 So. 2d 308, 312 (Miss. 2004)). "In non-jury cases, the trial judge's findings of fact will not be set aside on appeal unless they are 'manifestly wrong,' unsupported by substantial credible evidence (the 'substantial evidence rule'), or 'clearly erroneous.'" BRIDGES & SHELSON, GRIFFITH MISSISSIPPI CHANCERY PRACTICE (2000 Ed.), §674 (quoting *Miss. State Dep't of Human Servs. v. Bennett*, 633 So. 2d 430, 434 (Miss. 1993)). The substantial evidence rule has been summarized by the Supreme Court as follows:

Under established principles regarding to the description of our scope of review, we are charged with examining the entire record. In so doing, that evidence which supports or reasonably tends to support the findings of fact made below, together with all reasonable inferences which may be drawn therefrom and which favor the lower court's findings of fact, must be accepted. *If there is substantial evidence to support the findings made by the trier of fact, those findings must be affirmed here.*

Cotton v. McConnell, 435 So. 2d 683, 685 (Miss. 1983) (emphasis added). Finally, “[t]he credibility of the witnesses and the weight of their testimony, as well as the interpretation of evidence where it is capable of more than one reasonable interpretation, are primarily for the chancellor as the trier of facts.” *Johnson v. Gray*, 859 So. 2d 1006, 1014 (Miss. 2003).

II. SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE EXISTS IN THE RECORD TO SUPPORT THE CHANCELLOR’S FINDINGS THAT NO MATERIAL FRAUDULENT ALTERATION OF THE CSP DEED OF TRUST OCCURRED.

The material alteration of a deed is an affirmative defense that must be proven by clear and convincing evidence. *Tate v. Rouse*, 156 So. 2d 217, 219 (Miss. 1963). As the Supreme Court recently stated:

Clear and convincing evidence has been defined as follows: that weight of proof which produces in the mind of the trier of fact a firm belief or conviction as to the truth of the allegations sought to be established, evidence so clear, direct and weighty and convincing as to enable the fact-finder to come to a clear conviction, without hesitancy, of the truth of the precise facts of the case.

Niebanck v. Block, 35 So. 3d 1260, 1264 (Miss. 2010). “Clear and convincing evidence is such a high standard of proof that even the overwhelming weight of the evidence does not rise to the same level.” *Id.*

Further, to actually render the deed void, the alteration must be the result of fraud rather than mistake or omission. *Mullins*, 192 So. 2d at 704.¹⁰ Finally, for a deed to be void by

¹⁰ In *Mullins*, the case relied upon by Appellants for the proposition that an alteration voids a deed of trust, the Court held that the alteration must be done fraudulently, and not merely to “correct an honest mistake or omission.” 192 So. 2d at 704. In that case, the Court found that “[t]he pleadings leave no room for a finding of alteration by mistake or inadvertence,” and found that the deed must be void. *Id.* In this case, on the other hand, the re-recording of the 939 N. President Street Deed of Trust was performed to correct a clear oversight, the omission of the exhibit which was clearly referenced and incorporated on

alteration, the alleged change to the deed must be made “by the party entitled to the instrument.” *Francis*, 64 So. 2d at 352.¹¹ If the deed was altered by either mistake or omission, or by one not a party to the transaction, the deed is not void and the unaltered deed can be enforced, reformed, or ratified. *See Mullins*, 192 So. 2d at 219; *Francis*, 64 So. 2d at 352.

Thus, in order to prevail, Appellants must prove, with clear and convincing evidence, not only that the re-recording of the Deed of Trust with Exhibit “A” constituted an “alteration”, but also that the alteration was made by SouthTrust and was done with fraudulent intent. Appellants wholly failed to meet its burden of proof, especially with clear and convincing evidence.

To support its assertion that a fraudulent alteration of the CSP Deed of Trust occurred, Appellants rely upon three things: (1) Byrd’s self-serving statement that he never intended that the mortgage encumber all the property bought with the mortgage proceeds; (2) the fact that two parcels were purchased with the mortgage proceeds; and (3) the fact that the CSP Deed of Trust was re-recorded. Even were the Chancellor and this Court to accept all of Appellants’ assertions as true, these facts are legally insufficient to meet Appellants’ burden of proof in this case. On the other hand, to support his finding that the CSP Deed of Trust was not altered and contained exactly the property intended, the Chancellor relied on ample substantial evidence in the record:

the face of the deed. As the Chancellor found, the Exhibit “A” that was attached contained no more and no less than the exact property purchased by the loan proceeds, and contained exactly the same legal description as every other document related to the transaction. Even if there were evidence of an alteration, and there is not, there is absolutely no evidence, much less clear and convincing evidence, of a fraudulent alteration.

¹¹ In *Francis*, the Court held that for an alteration to render a deed void, it must be made by a party to the instrument. 64 So. 2d at 352. The Court noted, “[t]here is a distinction to be observed between an alteration and a spoliation of an instrument, as to the legal consequences”. *Id.* (quoting *Bridges v. Winters*, 42 Miss. 135, 143 (Miss. 1868)). The term “alteration” “is applied when the act is done by the party entitled to the instrument. But the act of a stranger, without the participation of the party interested, is a mere spoliation or mutilation of the instrument, not changing its legal operation, so long as the original writing remains legible”. *Id.* (citing *Bridges*, 42 Miss. at 143). In this case, the alleged alteration was made not by anyone from SouthTrust, but instead by the closing attorney. Thus, even if there were an alteration – and there is no proof that there was – it would merely be a spoliation of the CSP Deed of Trust and would not render it void.

- The CSP Deed of Trust, even as originally recorded and admittedly signed by Byrd, expressly referenced Exhibit “A” as containing the legal description. V. 5/711 (RE 3); *see also* Ex. 6 (RE 9).
- Exhibit “A,” as re-recorded, is consistent with all of the transactional documents, which referenced both properties collectively, and never separated 933 N. President for any reason. V. 5/711 (RE 3); *see also* Contract of Purchase and Sale, Exhibit “A” to Ex. 1/1, and Closing Statement, Exhibit “C” to Ex.1/1 (RE 6).
- Contradicting Appellants’ assertion in their Brief that Byrd never knew of the re-recording of the deed of trust, the re-recorded deed of trust was forwarded to Byrd at the time it was re-recorded. V. 5/711 (RE 3); *see also* Ex. 1/1 (RE 6).
- Byrd specifically acknowledged receipt of the Assignment of Rents, which contained the same legal description and was also originally recorded without Exhibit “A” and re-recorded with Exhibit “A.” V. 5/711 (RE 3); *see also* Ex. 70 (RE 13).
- Byrd repeatedly reaffirmed of the validity of the re-recorded deed of trust. V. 5/717 (RE 3); *see also* Ex. 11 (RE 18) and Ex. 13 (RE 19).
- A notice of foreclosure was published in 2005 and forwarded to Byrd, including both collectively 939 N. President Street 933 N. President Street properties, and Byrd raised no objection. *See* Notice of Foreclosure, Ex. 33 (RE 14).
- The Notice of Foreclosure in 2009 included both properties, and Byrd made no objection prior to the foreclosure occurring. V. 5/712 (RE 3); *see also* Notice of Foreclosure, Ex. 67 (RE 31).

- The Substitute Trustee’s Deed included both parcels, and Byrd made no objection to both properties’ inclusion in the Substitute Trustee’s Deed, and even paid additional sums to BMR to postpone recording of the Deed. *See* V. 5/712 (RE 3); *see also* Ex. 21 (RE 32), Ex. 22 (RE 24) and Ex. 23 (RE 25).
- Finally, the Court expressly found that Byrd’s assertions regarding his intent lacked credibility, noting “it is now disingenuous to claim that the successfully foreclosed property was never intended to be included in the deed of trust.” V. 5/712 (RE 3).

Under the standard of review, there is far more than mere substantial evidence supporting the Chancellor’s decision, and thus these findings of fact must be affirmed. The record is replete with evidence supporting the Chancellor’s findings of fact, which expressly involved the weighing and interpretation of the evidence and the weighing of the credibility of the witnesses. It was not by mistake that Appellants omitted the standard of review from their Brief; not only did the Chancellor provide much more evidence than is necessary to support his findings, Appellants utterly failed to meet its clear and convincing burden of proof.

Finally, although there is no proof that any alteration of the deed of trust ever occurred, Appellants have utterly failed to meet their burden of proof to establish a fraudulent alteration, which is required to void the deed. Thus, in addition to proving that Byrd knew exactly what was encumbered by the deed of trust, Byrd’s repeated reaffirmations and ratifications of the deed of trust cured any defect. In order to avoid this result, however, Appellants suggest erroneously that “subsequent actions to validate [a deed of trust] do not cure its defects.” Appellants’ Brief, p. 30. To support this assertion, Appellants cite *Craddock v. Brinkley*, 671 So. 2d 662, 664 (Miss. 1996), but in so doing, they generalize a rule from specific circumstances to suggest an absurd result; that no deed or deed of trust containing mistakes or omissions could ever be

reformed or corrected. But *Craddock's* holding is not so broad, Craddock specifically relates to *Miss. Code Ann. § 89-1-29*, the homestead statute, which renders a deed conveying homestead property void if it lacks the spouse's signature.¹²

Contrary to Appellants' argument, the Mississippi Supreme Court has long held that where a deed of trust is not void, defects can be corrected through reformation or ratification. *See, e.g., First Nat'l Bank v. Huff*, 441 So. 2d 1317, 1321 (Miss. 1983) ("To reform a deed of trust containing a mistake and establish an equitable lien the evidence must be clear and convincing."). Finally, in this specific context, cases addressing alterations suggest that reformation or ratification would be possible if the alteration was not fraudulent, but merely by mistake. *See Mullins*, 192 So. 2d at 704 (finding that alterations to "correct an honest mistake or omission" do not void the deed).

The legal description in the CSP Deed of Trust was exactly as the parties intended, and even if it were not, CSP has ratified any mistake.

III. UNDER THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF THE 930 BLUES CAFÉ DEED OF TRUST, THE DEED OF TRUST SECURED THE ENTIRE INDEBTEDNESS AND WAS NOT SATISFIED AT THE TIME OF FORECLOSURE.

"When an indebtedness to pay has been established, the burden of proving payment is on the party who alleges it. It is an affirmative defense." *Tate*, 156 So. 2d at 218. In this case, the issue is whether the 930 Blues Café Deed of Trust was intended to secure the payment of only \$200,000 or the entire outstanding indebtedness. Thus, the issue is one of contract interpretation. The rules of contract interpretation are well established. First the Court must look to the four corners of the contract:

¹² Appellants also overstate the law regarding deeds conveying homestead. Appellate courts have held that obtaining the spouse's signature at a later date does not void the deed where there is evidence that each spouse consented to the conveyance at the time the other signed. *Harrell v. Lamar Co., LLC*, 925 So. 2d 870, 875 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005).

When the language of the deed or contract is clear, definite, explicit, harmonious in all its provisions, and free from ambiguity throughout, the court looks solely to the language used in the instrument itself, and will give effect to each and all its parts as written.

Farragut, 612 So. 2d at 329.

Appellants have relied heavily on parol evidence to suggest that documents which expressly secured the entire indebtedness were never actually intended to do so, but such arguments fail as a matter of law. “[T]o permit a party, when sued on a written contract, to admit that he signed it but to deny that it expresses the agreement he made or to allow him to admit that he signed it but did not read it or know its stipulations would absolutely destroy the value of all contracts.” *Anderson v. Equitable Life Assurance Soc’y of the United States*, 248 F.Supp.2d 584, 590 (S.D.Miss. 2003) (quoting *Turner v. Terry*, 799 So. 2d 25, 36 (Miss. 2001)). The Court in *Anderson* continued:

Questions regarding interpretation of the contract should be resolved by the language of the contract. The intent of the “contracting parties should be gleaned solely from the wording of the contract.” The court will generally not consider prior oral agreements, misunderstandings between the parties, or any other form of parol evidence.

Id. at 590-591 (internal citations omitted). According to the Mississippi Supreme Court, “[o]ur concern is not nearly so much with what the parties may have intended, but with what they said, since the words employed are by far the best resource for ascertaining the intent and assigning meaning with fairness and accuracy.” *In re Estate of Fitzner*, 881 So. 2d 164, 169 (Miss. 2003). Further, under Mississippi law, “[p]arol evidence will not be received to vary or alter the terms of a written agreement that is intended to express the entire agreement of the parties on the subject matter at hand.” Finally, parol evidence is inadmissible to “contradict, vary, alter, add to, or detract from” the written instrument. *Sharpsburg Farms, Inc. v. Williams*, 363 So. 2d 1350, 1355 (Miss 1978) (quoting *Allen v. Allen*, 168 So. 658, 659 (Miss 1936)). Simply put, the parol

evidence relied upon by Appellants is simply not admissible in face of an unambiguous contract.¹³

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